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Mauritian Horse Racing through the years...
The origin of horseracing in Mauritius dates back to 1812. On the 25th of June of that year, the first races
were held under the aegis of the Mauritius Turf Club at the Champ de Mars racecourse, heralding 200
years of competition between owners and stables almost non-stop even during the world wars of the
20th century. It is accepted that the Mauritius Turf Club is the third oldest Turf Club in the world.
The aim of the founders of the Mauritius Turf Club was to reconcile the French settlers with the
English administrators who had conquered the island in December 1810. They were convinced that
the convivial atmosphere of horseracing would foster a better understanding between the two
communities and ensure social peace and harmony after the battles in the Indian Ocean. The new
Governor, Sir Robert T. Farquhar and his wife of French origin, Lady Maria Farquhar (born de Latour),
actively supported the organization of horseracing, the latter offering the first gold cup of the Club’s
history to mark the occasion.
When Colonel Draper came to Mauritius in 1815, he enthusiastically promoted horseracing at the
Champ de Mars for some 25 years, racing his own thoroughbreds, often riding them in competition,
to the point that he became known as the “Father” of the Mauritius Turf Club.
The main road leading to the Champ de Mars racecourse is a landmark known to racing enthusiasts as
“La Rue du Governement”. Nestled at the foot of lovely hills, the Champ de Mars is the oldest known
racecourse in the southern hemisphere and is also reckoned as one of the oldest in the world.
The Champ de Mars track follows a very selective right hand oval path. It is 1298m in circumference
and 11m to 13m wide - it is a relatively small track. Races are run on distances from 990m to 2400m.
The Draper’s Mile (1500m), was named after the “Father” of the club who walked the racetrack to
introduce a mile race but whose distance turned out to be 100m short. The track has been constantly
improved since 1812 to offer horses a better galloping surface. A maximum field of eleven horses is
allowed to race on the track which has to be meticulously maintained on our tropical island to avoid
any trauma to the horses. Water retention is minimal even in periods of heavy summer rainfall. To
provide race goers with adequate information about the track, a probe metering unit of French origin
called a Penetrometer gives a reading to express the state of the track at all times.
New distances have been introduced in the last few years to foster competition and the track has been
modified accordingly. In 2008, the winning post was moved by some 22m so as to lengthen the home
straight.
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2017 / 2018 HIGHLIGHTS

Attendance
Paid Only

KEY PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

37
Meetings

299
Races

2,649
Starters

2017: 37

2017: 295

2017: 2,478

2018: 122,174
2017: 118,585

Rs

Turnover

Prize Money

Subsidies to Stables

2018: Rs 383M (+12%)

2018: Rs 98M (+12%)

2018: Rs 55M (+14.5%)

EBITDA

EBIT

Surplus/(Deficit) Before tax

2018: Rs 18M (+80%)

2018: Rs 9.1M (+250%)

2018: Rs 8.6M (+160%)

Free Cash Flow

Total Assets

Capital Investment

2018: Rs 14.7M

2018: Rs 748M (+11%)

2018: Rs 8.2M (-41%)

2017: Rs 341M

Av. Starter/
Race

Horse
Population

New
Horses

Average no.
of races/horses

2018: 8.9
2017: 8.4

2018: 472
2017: 427

2018: 206
2017: 199

2018: 5.6
2017: 5.8

2017: Rs 88M

2017: Rs 48M

Rs

Cost of
Laboratory Test

Number of
Members

2018: Rs 22.3M
2017: Rs 20.3M

2018: 896
2017: 968

2017: Rs 10M

2017: Rs 2.6M

2017: Rs 3.3M

Rs

Total
Employees

Betting
Turnover

2018: 353
2017: 324

2018: Rs 5.7B
2017: Rs 5.8B

2017: (Rs 13.3M)
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2017: Rs 675M

2017: Rs 14M
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OUR DIGITAL PRESENCE

CORPORATE INFORMATION

YouTube
23,200 Videos

36,600 Views during
live broadcast

BOARD OF ADMINISTRATORS

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Administrators
Kamal Taposeea - President
Paul France Tennant
Frantz Merven
Rajesh Servansing
Denis Doger De Spéville

Members
Frantz Merven - Chairman
Rajesh Servansing
Neemalen Gopal

Attendees
Benoit Halbwachs
Khalid Rawat
Jerome Tuckmansing

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

25,963 Subscribers

Members
Frantz Merven - Chairman
Rajesh Servansing
Neemalen Gopal
Attendees
Benoit Halbwachs
Jerome Tuckmansing

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

Website
22,000,000
Pages views in 2018

Members
Rajesh Servansing - Chairman
Paul France Tennant
Kamben Padayachy
Ouma Shankar Ochit
Attendees
Benoit Halbwachs
Jerome Tuckmansing

Attendees
Benoit Halbwachs
Jerome Tuckmansing

INTERNAL AUDITORS
PRICE WATERHOUSE COOPERS LTD
18 Cybercity
Ebène, Mauritius

EXTERNAL AUDITORS
BDO & Co
10, Frère Félix de Valois Street
Port Louis

BANKERS
• The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited
• AfrAsia Bank limited
• Barclays Bank Plc
• Banque Des Mascareignes Limitée
• MauBank

LEGAL ADVISERS
• Me. Sanjay Bhuckory
• Me. Anju Ghose – Attorney
• Appleby – Mauritius Office
• Me. Clarel Benoit
• Me. Rishi Pursem
• Me. Dya Ghose
• Me. Cader Mallam-Hassam

REGISTERED OFFICE
Champ de Mars, Port Louis, Mauritius
Tel: (230) 212 2212 | Fax: (230) 211 4050 | Hotline: (230) 213 1091
Email: mtc@intnet.mu | Website: www.mauritiusturfclub.com
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PRESIDENT’S
MESSAGE

Living the
Mauritian dream
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PRESIDENT’S
MESSAGE
Dear Members,
I am delighted to present the Club’s
Annual Report in its new more concise
and corporate format.
The racing year 2018 was an interesting
and challenging season for various
reasons and, in many respects, progress
was made on various fronts.

Nothing is permanent
but change
Heraclitus

Kamal Taposeea - President
14
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The passion and dedication of the administrators,
management, and staff have been exemplary. I thank
everyone for having worked as one team during 2018.
I also want to thank all the members who have helped
their Club by participating in various committees
during the year. In fact, we encourage more
participation from members at all times.
The 2018 financial results were indeed very
encouraging as EBITA (Earnings Before Interest, tax
and Amortisation) grew from Rs 10.4 million in 2017
to Rs 18.2 million in 2018, a growth of 75%. The profit
before tax rose from Rs 3.3 million in 2017 to Rs 8.6
million in 2018. The properties of the Club were
revalued as at 31 December 2018, resulting in a gain
in revaluation of Rs 80 million.
The continued efforts in managing costs and
enhancing revenue streams which are within our
control, such as sponsorship of race days and rental
of corporate boxes, have greatly contributed to our
bottom line.
We take this opportunity to thank our repeat sponsors
and also new ones who have enjoyed the thrill of our
Champ de Mars for the first time in 2018. As a matter
of fact, many of our newcomers in 2018 will be repeat
sponsors in 2019. Thank you sponsors!
There is no doubt also that the Club’s improved
fixtures committee with the three additional members
designated by the trainers’ community (two trainers
and one assistant trainer) has had a positive role in
the excellent quality of races we have enjoyed in 2018.
The indirect consequence of this initiative definitely
led to a better race-card and betting turnover.

The passion and dedication
of the administrators,
management, and staff have
been exemplary. I thank everyone
for having worked as one team
during 2018.
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Our overall relationship with the GRA in 2018
remained professional and this, despite the fact that
we had taken the decision to legally challenge their
directive affecting the organization of race meetings.
It will be inappropriate for me to comment on this as
the matter is sub judice.
We will fail in our duties if credit is not given to the
owners and trainers who have made enormous
efforts in the purchase of horses leading to fierce
competition which had a direct impact on the betting
volumes. The betting public is also to be thanked for
their continued trust in the Club.
Another factor, which led to continued confidence
in racing in 2018, was the strict control by the
racing stewards. We cannot conceal the beneficial
contribution of Mr John Zucal in the stipe room.
Unfortunately, the latter will not be returning to
Mauritius in 2019 and thus our decision to hire
Miss Julia Keevy for the upcoming season in order
to maintain and improve the supervision by the
stewards.
In respect of attendance level for 2018, it did not
decrease nor increase. The reasons for this flat
growth are numerous and more will be done in 2019
in respect of our infrastructure and amenities in order
to render the facilities more comfortable. Horse racing
remains the No. 1 entertainment in our country and
the growing number of foreigners who attended any
race day were unanimous in recognizing that we have
an exceptional racecourse with a fantastic ambience.
Our International Jockeys’ Weekend has kept all its
promises in 2018 and a special thank you goes to
Khalid Rawat for having managed this event since
1996. Khalid will be leaving us in 2019 and we wish
him all the success in his new endeavours.

The 2018 season is now over and the next one is
behind the door and we must continue to be vigilant
against those who wish to tarnish the reputation of
this noble sport. In 2018, we spent Rs 2.3 million for
the out of competition tests and Rs 20.4 million for
pre and post-race tests. We unfortunately detected
6 cases for prohibited substances, that was six too
many!
We have reviewed and enhanced some of our security
procedures and will, in 2019, ask the trainers, assistant
trainers, stable supervisors and grooms to step up
and adopt the various measures proposed to cater
for a more rigid and effective control.
As from this year, we are pleased to welcome our new
CEO, Mr Mike Rishworth to the Club. Mike comes to us
with a wealth of experience in all facets of the industry.
We look forward to working with and supporting Mike
in the years to come.
The arrival of Mike will allow Benoit to bow out after 25
years as the Club’s General Manager. We thank Benoit
for having taken the Club to where it is today and are
delighted that he will continue to put his know-how
and experience at the disposal of the Club. For the
immediate future, Benoit will remain as the Club’
secretary and will also ensure the proper organization
of race days.

We will be calling for an EGM in 2019 whereby we
will present to you our proposal to modernise our
outdated statutes. We will be looking forward for your
approval to implement these significant changes.
It is important to never forget the very basic premise
that everything the Board of administrators does
is for the benefit of members, staff, our various
stakeholders, and for the future of our Club. To that
effect, I wish to congratulate my fellow administrators
for their hard work and determination to achieve the
goals we had set for the advancement of The Mauritius
Turf Club.
Lastly, I would like to say that the administrators, the
management, and staff are ready for the challenges
that await us for the upcoming season and that with
your support of course!
Thank you.

Kamal TAPOSEEA
President

We are also happy to report that we have only recently
obtained the FSC’s approval for the thorny issue
relating to the pension plan that has been going on
for many years. We have developed various options
for the financing of this plan and the implementation
thereof should take place in 2019.

The good financial performance allowed us to increase
the stakes monies to Rs 98 million from Rs 87.5 million
in 2017 and to continue to offer subsidies to the
stables amounting to Rs 54.6 million in 2018 from
Rs 48.4 million in 2017.
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BOARD
MEMBERS
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BOARD MEMBERS

Denis de Spéville
Administrator

Denis de Spéville is a member
of the MTC since 1986 and has
been elected to sit on the Board
of Administrators in 2018. He has
a BSC in Mechanical Engineering
from the City University, London,
and a BCom from Unisa. He has
been working mainly in the field
of Engineering and in the Textile
Industry.
In 2009 he created his own
enterprise dealing in Thermal Solar
Energy and Process Simulation. In
connection with the MTC he has
been a Corner Judge, member of
the Appeal Committee and partowner of horses.
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Paul France Tennant

Kamal Taposeea

Rajesh Servansing

Frantz Merven

Member of the Audit &
Risk Committee

LLB, Barrister-at-law (inner temple),
LLM - President of the MTC

Chairman of the Audit &
Risk Committee

Chairman of the Corporate
Governance Committee

Paul France Tennant is a member
of the Club since 1982 and was
elected as a member of the Board
of Administrator in 2016. Paul
France
Tennant
served
as
Administrative Steward of the
MTC during three consecutive
years from 2006 to 2008, Paul
France Tennant has a strong
accounting background as well as
a longstanding post-qualification
experience of 38 years as
Accountant at Harel Freres Ltée,
rebranded since 2012 as the
Terra Group: one of the leading
business
conglomerates
in
Mauritius involved in the Milling
industry,
Independent
Power
Production, Basaltic products
and via Grays Inc. Ltd which
is involved in the production
and distribution of wines and
spirits, home care products,
fragrances and pharmaceuticals
products.

Kamal Taposeea has over 30 years
professional experience extending
to diverse sectors, which include
Law, Financial Services, Financial
Regulations, Media and Airlines &
Tourism. He currently holds NonExecutive Directorships in various
financial services companies and
global funds, as well as in the
steel and energy industry sectors.
Previously Kamal Taposeea has
been a member of the Monetary
Policy Committee of the Bank of
Mauritius, non-executive Chairman
of Air Mauritius, General Manager
(Investment Banking Group) of Al
Rajhi Bank in Saudi Arabia, Regional
Managing Director at Standard
Bank Mauritius, Managing Director
at Barclays Bank PLC Mauritius
and Commercial Director of
Cedel Bank. Kamal Taposeea has
started his banking career with JP
Morgan in 1985. Kamal has been a
member of the MTC since 2003. He
comes from a family traditionally
passionate about horse racing, his
great grandfather, Dunputh Lallah
won the Maiden Cup, the Blue
Riband of the Mauritian turf, with
INDEWHAT in 1919.

Locknath (Rajesh) Servansing is a
member of the Club since February
2006 and was elected as a member
of the Board of Administrators in
March 2018. Before joining the
club, Locknath Servansing retired
as Vice President of Barclays Bank
Mauritius Limited. In his 40+ years
of banking, Locknath Servansing
has held a number of senior
positions in Retail Banking and
Banking Operations including a
span of 10+ years in IT.

Frantz Merven is a member of the
club since 1983 and sits on the
Board of the MTC since February
2017. Frantz Merven has a strong
background of races and horses
for having, for years, made
horse riding, show jumping and
gentlemen riders’ races. He has
also been Corner Judge of the MTC
for about 12 years as from 1974
before joining the Appeal Board,
where he was an active member
for about 30 years until he joined
the Board in 2017.

Prior to his banking career, he also
spent two years working in the
public sector. Locknath Servansing
currently chairs the Audit and Risk
Committee of the club, the Fixtures
Committee and is a member of the
Governance Committee.

Coming from an Accountancy
background, Frantz Merven has
fulfilled several positions of Manager
in various companies during his
professional career and he finished
his 49 years working career in
2013 after having spent 23 years
as General Manager of Plaisance
Flight Catering, a member of NMH
group. He is also the Director of
Merven Frères Ltée (the Merven
Sweepstakes lottery organizer)
since 1980.

21

GENERAL
MANAGER’S
MESSAGE

The joy of
witnessing history
in the making
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GENERAL MANAGER’S
MESSAGE
The Horse Racing Industry
Dear Members,
It is my pleasure to provide you with an
overview of the 2018 racing season as
well as the current state of the Horse
Racing Industry in Mauritius.

in Mauritius, just as in many
countries across the globe,
is facing severe economic
and social challenges and
its market share has been
declining over the past years.

Benoit Halbwachs - General Manager
24
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The 2018 Racing Season

The Horse Racing Industry in Mauritius

Trainer Gilbert Rousset was once more top of the
log, his 6th title over the last 10 years, with his jockey
Robbie Fradd winning the championship for his
comeback in Mauritius, 25 years after his first title in
1993. Brazilian jockey Manuel Nunes who landed in
Mauritius in the second half of the racing season was
also outstanding, with a strike rate of 32% for 53 rides.
The two Mauritian apprentices, Jameel Allyhosain
(22 wins) and Brandon Louis (21 wins), also made a
great impact, coming 2nd and 3rd on the log.

The Horse Racing Industry in Mauritius, just as in
many countries across the globe, is facing severe
economic and social challenges and its market share
has been declining over the past years. The consumer
behaviour is changing rapidly and efforts need to be
made to access a wider audience, more specifically the
younger generation through modern technology. The
illegal betting market is still thriving on our races, be
it in Mauritius or internationally through the internet.
A growing customer engagement is necessary as the
MTC needs to secure a fair return from betting which
represents 68% of its revenues.

A record number of 193 new horses made their
debut on our turf and an average of 8.8 horses per
race competed in the 299 races. Last season also
saw the highest number of horse participation since
2012. Gold Cup winner and Horse of the year, Hard
Day’s Night (R.Gujadhur stable) topped the log with
Rs 2,225,000 in stakes money won and was never out
of the placings in his 7 outings (3 wins, 4 seconds).
Perplexing (Gujadhur stable) was the only horse
achieving 6 wins in the year, progressing in its rating
from 21 to 48.
A new start in a straight line for the 1000m was
introduced (990m) with twice more races than in 2017
being organized over that distance. Consequently,
much less races were run over the 1365m, considered
to be too sharp at the start and denying horses a fair
chance in the race. Careless riding offences were less
frequent than in 2017. Competition was fair and fierce
and the racegoers were able to witness numerous
close and thrilling finishes.
All these factors contributed to an increase in the
betting turnover, despite an increasingly competitive
local market with the various forms of betting
products available – such as 7 days a week football
offers – not to mention PMU Partenaires introduced
here in 2017!
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The MTC, which is a non-profit making organisation
is constantly under pressure to improve its
infrastructure and professionalism of its service. The
organisation of horse racing is indeed a complex task
requiring the expertise and knowhow of a variety of
professionals, making it an expensive betting product.
As horse racing is closely associated with gambling,
potential horse race fixing has always existed. The MTC
has acted vigorously to eliminate any form of race fixing
and has constantly improved its control to this effect.
The prevention of doping is an ongoing battle and not
less than Rs 22 million was spent in 2018 for pre-race
and post-race analysis as well as out of competition
testing, making it a total of 3,400 tests done by Quantilab
during the year.

The organisation of horse racing
is indeed a complex task requiring
the expertise and knowhow of
a variety of professionals, making it
an expensive betting product.

The MTC has spared no effort to increase the prize money and the
grooms’ subsidies provided to trainers and owners (Rs 97.8 million and
Rs 54.6 million respectively and this represents an increase of 12% on
2017 figures). This item is a key part to maintaining the health of Mauritian
racing as well as uplifting the quality of the race program. It is therefore
imperative that horseracing be a financially strong and healthy industry,
ensuring quality and fair races in the best interest of the public. Racegoers
will wager confidently only when they trust the racing product.
For the racing product to be appealing, it should also be able to entice
more reliable, dedicated and trustworthy people to become horse
owners. However, present situation is constantly putting more and
more financial pressure on owners and trainers to win enough stakes
money to meet the rising cost of running their stables. To keep a horse
in training costs some Rs 25,000 monthly and some trainers may be
tempted to rely on betting to make ends meet and this obviously
creates an unhealthy situation.
All this points to the fact that the MTC needs a helping hand from the
Government for the sustainability of the horse racing industry. This can
be done through the authorisation of commingling as well as internet
betting and a review of the taxation regime on betting. Figures show
that in 2017, the Government derived some Rs 650 million out of horse
racing through the various betting licenses and taxes, while MTC’s
turnover for this same period was only Rs 341 million.
In fact, despite all these constraints, it has been quite an achievement for
the MTC to adapt itself over the years and face the various challenges,
thus providing the most exciting leisure activity on the island. The
population has for decades always been passionate about horse racing
and, unlike other forms of gambling such as casinos, slot machines or
loto, where the probability of winning is purely random, the racegoer
has to study the form of each horse and carry out a lot of research work
before placing a bet. This includes reading the various race magazines
and stay tuned to media platform programs through TV, radio and
internet. Day to day exchange of views and opinions on racing matters
is part of the game for a lot of Mauritians across the island and one
can say that horse racing has an impact on the community as it brings
social interaction through its commercial activities. Moreover, it is very
encouraging to note that the Champ de Mars is attracting a growing
number of tourists every year on race days.

896

MEMBERS

Rs 22M

LABORATORY
TEST COSTS

Rs 25K
MONTHLY
TRAINING COSTS
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Still, the coming year will be very challenging for all stakeholders. Despite all its efforts and contribution to the
Mauritian economy, the MTC has only been allowed to organise 37 meetings of 8 races this year. We feel that this
is unfair as, unlike betting on foreign football which is an imported all year-round product bringing a limited value
to the Mauritian economy, horse racing provides employment to some 500 permanent full-time employees and
some 1,000 part timers. Another 5,000 people derive an income indirectly through the different services and
suppliers. However, the recent setting up of an Integrity and Compliance Division at the G.R.A is a step in the
right direction to help the racing industry move forward and face the challenges ahead. We have to rely on more
support from each and everyone so that the people’s favourite leisure activity be recognised for its true value.
I would like to take this opportunity to acknowledge the role of the public for their ongoing support and also
thank all our stakeholders for their sustained contribution.
On another note, I would like to thank my deputy, Khalid Rawat, for all his contribution to the MTC. Khalid has
been my close and trusted collaborator for the past 29 years and he has worked tirelessly to promote horse
racing in Mauritius. I wish him well in his retirement and future plans.
I would also like to thank our President and Board members, as well as everyone who works within the MTC.
It is their effort and dedication that have enabled the MTC to stand the test of time.
On behalf of us all, I wish to welcome our CEO, Mike Rishworth, who has taken up his new job on the 1st February
2019. I am sure that Mike will do his best to help promote racing and take it to a to a higher level in Mauritius.

Benoit HALBWACHS
General Manager
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EXECUTIVE
COMMITTEE

From left to right : Khalid Rawat,
John Smith, Jérôme Tuckmansing,
Benoit Halbwachs, Diya Dabee,
Jean-Marc Halbwachs, Shan Ip
Ting Wah, Stephane De Chalain,
Kamal Bissumbhur and Darma
Carooppunnen
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

Adrenalin surges
as heroic moments
are recorded in history
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REPORT
The Mauritius Turf Club (“MTC” or “Club”) does not
qualify as a Public Interest Entity (PIE) as defined under
the Financial Reporting Act 2004 (FRA). Nevertheless,
the Club is under the duty to comply with (i) the
requirements set out in its Horseracing Organiser
license granted by the Gambling Regulatory Authority
(GRA) under section 31 (3) of the GRA Act 2007 (the
“Act”) to the effect that the Horseracing Organiser
shall abide by the Code of Corporate Governance
(2016) and guidelines issued under the Financial
Reporting Act 2004.
Good governance is essential for the MTC to achieve
sustainable growth and success whilst ensuring
transparency and protection of the interest of its
members and stakeholders at large. The Board of
Administrators is therefore committed to ensuring
that good governance principles are rooted within the
Club and reflected in its business activities.
However, having regard to the specificity of the MTC,
as a non-profit making organisation registered under
the Registration of Associations Act 1978, and to its
statutory structure as currently provided in the Club’s
Statutes, it follows that the MTC is not in a position to
report in line with all the exigencies and requirements
of the Code of Corporate Governance (2016) in the
2018 Annual Report.
This report, part of MTC’s Annual Report
for 2018 is also available on MTC’s website:
www.mauritiusturfclub.com

PRINCIPLE 1: THE MAURITIUS TURF CLUB’S
GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
THE ROLE AND FUNCTION OF THE BOARD
The primary function of the MTC’s Board is to provide
effective leadership and direction to enhance the longterm value of the Club and of the horse racing industry
in Mauritius for its members and other stakeholders.
The Board of MTC assumes its responsibility in:
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(i)	overseeing the executive management and the
proper functioning of the Club;
(ii) acting as a focal point for Corporate Governance;
(iii)	defining general policies and guidelines for the
Club; and
(iv)	defining the Club’s purpose, strategy and values;
determines all matters relating to the directions,
practices, management and operations of the
Club; evaluates plans and projects submitted by
the Management Team; and makes sure that the
Club is being managed in accordance with the
Board’s directions and delegations.
The Board is also responsible for the preparation
of the Annual Report as well as the accounts of the
Club and has the responsibility of stating whether the
same are fair, balanced and understandable whilst
adopting the going concern principle of Accounting. In
fact, the Board must ensure that the MTC’s accounts
fairly presents the state of affairs of the Club and
the results of its operations whilst complying with
the IFRS and IAS standards together with all relevant
and applicable acts and regulations. In discharging
this duty, the Board maintains the responsibility of
ensuring that necessary information is provided to the
Club’s Members so as to allow a proper assessment
of the position, performance and outlook of the Club.
The President has the responsibility to lead the
Board and facilitate constructive contributions by all
Administrators to ensure that the Board functions
effectively as a whole in discharging its responsibilities.
The Board has duly ensured that the Club’s President
is able to commit sufficient time in the carrying out and
discharge of its duties and responsibilities efficiently.
The role and function of the Administrators are clearly
separated from those of the Club’s General Manager
(acting de facto in capacity of Chief Executive Officer
of the Club).
The Board also has the duty to ensure that the
following code of ethics are strictly followed by the
difference stakeholders:
1. Code of ethics for MTC officials.
2. Code of ethics for employees.
3. Code of ethics for owners and trainers (Publish on
MTC website).

In the absence of the President, the Board is chaired by the Administrator holding the oldest current mandate
(“Senior Administrator”). If two or more Senior Administrators have been appointed on the same date, the
elder shall chair the meeting. The Board of the MTC requires a quorum of three Administrators to be validly
constituted. Except as otherwise provided, Board decisions are taken at simple majority of casted votes and
the President holds a casting vote in case of equality of votes.

CONSTITUTION
The rules of MTC complies with the provisions of the Registrar of Association Act 1978. There are no clauses of
the rules deemed material enough for special disclosure.

MTC’S ORGANISATIONAL CHART

MEMBERS OF MTC
Elect the Board of Administrators

Audit & Risk Committee

MTC
BOARD

Corporate Governance,
Nomination &
Remuneration
Committee

Delegates Day-To-Day Management

GENERAL
MANAGER

Assistant General Manager
Finance and Admin. Manager
Chief Stipe
Operational Manager
Human Resource Manager
Broadcast Manager
Communication and Marketing Manager
Floreal Training Centre
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KEY ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
Chairperson

TABLE 1: BOARD OF ADMINISTRATORS ATTENDANCE
General Manager

• Provides overall leadership to the Board

• Manages the day-to-day operations

• Ensures that the Board is effective in its
duties of setting out and implementing
the Club’s strategy

• Develops and executes the plans and
strategy of the business in line with the
policies set by the Board

• Ensures that committees are properly
structured with appropriate terms of
reference

• Consults regularly with the Chairperson
and Board on matters which may have a
material impact on the Club

• Presides and conducts meetings
effectively

• Acts as a liaison between the
Management and the Board

• Advises and provides support and
supervision to the General Manager

• Provides leadership and direction to
Managers

• Ensures that administrators receive
accurate, timely and clear information

• Ensures the maintenance of a sound
internal control system

• Oversees the succession planning
process
• Maintains sound relations with the
members

PRINCIPLE 2: STRUCTURE OF THE BOARD
AND ITS COMMITTEES
BOARD SIZE AND STRUCTURE
MTC is led, controlled and governed by an effective
and highly committed Board comprising of six
Administrators who possess the appropriate skills,
knowledge, independence and experience in core and
other business sectors to enable them to discharge
their duties and responsibilities effectively. The Board
plays a key role in determining the Club’s direction,
monitoring its performance and overseeing risks and
is collectively responsible for the long-term success of
the Club.
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THE MAURITIUS TURF CLUB

Administrators
• Contribute to the development of Club’s
strategy

Board Attendance

Number of meetings held during FY 2018

33

ADMINISTRATORS

• Analyse and monitor the performance
of the Management against the set
objectives

Kamal TAPOSEEA – Current President – from 02.03.18 to-date

33

Jean-Noël FAYOLLE – Past President – from 18.12.17 to 02.03.18. Resigned as from 02.03.08

4

• Ensure that the Club has adequate and
proper internal controls as well as a
robust system of risk management

Mukesh BALGOBIN – Past President – from 22.02.17 to 18.12.17

6

Paul-France TENNANT

29

• Ensure that financial information
released to member and other
stakeholders is accurate

Frantz MERVEN – Chairman of the CGC - from 22.02.17 to-date

33

Rajesh SERVANSING – Chairman of the ARC – from 06.03.18 to-date. Elected on 02.03.18

30

Denis DOGER DE SPEVILLE – Elected on 02.03.18

32

Edgar (JR) JULIENNE – Resigned as from 02.03.18

4

• Actively participate in Board decisionmaking and constructively challenge,
if necessary, proposals presented by
Management
• Provide specialist knowledge and
experience to the Board
• Remain permanently bound by fiduciary
duties and duties of care and skill

Despite the fact that the Board does not comprise of
at least two executive Administrators, the members
of the Board have proven to hold the appropriate
balance of skills, experience, independence and
knowledge of the Club’s affairs inasmuch as the Acting
General Manager, the Deputy General Manager and
the Finance and Administrative Manager are full time
attendees to all meetings of the Board whereby the
said executive officers provide valuable insight on the
day-to-day running of the Club.
Furthermore, the Administrators are given the
possibility to (i) seek independent professional
advice, as and when required; and (ii) may undergo
continuous professional development programmes,
both at the Club’s exclusive expense, so as to better
contribute in the Board discussions and decisionmaking process.

MANAGERS (In attendance)
Benoit HALBWACHS – Acting Secretary/Acting General Manager

31

Khalid RAWAT – Assistant Secretary/Deputy General Manager

24

Jérôme TUCKMANSING – Finance and Administrative Manager

26

BOARD PROCESSES AND ATTENDANCE AT BOARD/
COMMITTEE MEETINGS
The Board meets at least every two weeks and adhoc meetings may also be convened to deliberate on
urgent substantive matters.

DEDICATED COMMITTEES ASSISTING THE BOARD IN
ITS DUTIES
The Board delegates certain roles and responsibilities
to its committee. Whilst the Board retains the overall
responsibility, committees prone subject more deeply
and report on the matters discussed, decisions taken,
and where appropriate, make recommendations on
items requiring Board approval. The committees play
a key role in supporting the Board. The Club secretary
of the Board acts as secretary to these committees.
The chairmen of each committee report verbally to
the Board on their activities.

The Board is satisfied that the committees are
appropriately structured, skills and competent to
deal with both the club’s existing and emerging
issues, and that they have effectively discharged
their responsibilities during the year under review
according to their terms of reference. The terms of
reference of the committees are updated as and
when necessary.
The Board is assisted in its functions by two main subcommittees:
(i) An Audit and Risk Committee
(ii)	A Corporate Governance Committee, which
also acts as a Nomination and Remuneration
Committee
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AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE
• Terms of Reference
The ARC assists the Board of Administrators in
fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for:
1.	The integrity of the Association’s financial
statements,
2.	The Association’s compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements,
3.	The functioning of the Association’s internal audit
department, the scope and results of the external
audit, its cost effectiveness and the nature and
extent of non-audit services,
4. The functioning of the internal control system,
5.	The risk areas of the Association’s operations to be
covered in the scope of the internal and external
audits,
6.	The reliability and accuracy of the financial
information provided by management to the
Board and other users of financial information,
7.	The financial information to be provided by the
Board of the Association.
• Composition
From the 1st January 2018 to 1st March 2018.
The ARC comprised of three members of the Board of
Administrators and was chaired under the firm and
objective leadership of Mr. Kamal Taposeea, seconded
by Mr. Jean Noël Fayolle and Mr. Paul France Tennant
together with two external members namely Mr.
Kamben Padayachy and Mr. Ouma Shankar Ochit.
From the 2nd March 2018 to date:
The ARC currently comprises of two members of
the Board of Administrators as well as two external
Members and is chaired under the firm and objective
leadership of Mr. Rajesh Servansing, seconded by
one Administrator namely Mr. Paul France Tennant
together with two external members namely Mr.
Kamben Padayachy and Mr. Ouma Shankar Ochit.

• Responsibilities:
- Approve 2018 budget and CAPEX;
- Approve the internal annual audit plan;
- Process for appointing internal auditors.
-	
Review
internal
audit
reports
and
recommendations
and
ensure
their
implementation by management;
-	Review the external audit engagement letter and
terms, nature and scope of audit function;
-	Examine the financial statements and recommend
their adoption to the Board;
-	Assess and ensure the quality, integrity and
reliability of the risk management process;
-	Report on the effectiveness of Internal Control to
the Audit and Risk Committee; and
-	Ensure that Management identifies and manages
all inherent risks on a regular basis.
• Risk Management Role of the Committee
Risk management falls under the supervision of the
ARC and subsequently the Board of Administrators.
The management identifies potential risks to the Club
and a rating is conducted on the identified risks with
respect to both the probability of occurrence and
severity of impact.
The Internal Audit of the Mauritius Turf Club is
outsourced to Price Waterhouse Coopers (PWC)
whose contract expired during 2018 and after a tender
exercises Deloitte has been appointed. The Internal
Auditors reports directly to the ARC with a team of
qualified professionals with extensive experience
in auditing, fraud examination, risk management,
information systems security and governance. The
Management develops strategies and action plans
to manage and mitigate the identified risks. This is
reviewed regularly by the ARC.

Attendance at Audit and Risk Committee meetings in 2018 – 8 meetings
Position

15/02/18

07/05/18

19/06/18

24/07/18

26/07/18

03/09/18

23/10/18

14/12/18

Total No. of
meetings
attended

Rajesh
SERVANSING

Administrator and
Chairman of the ARC
Elected 02.03.18

-

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

7

Jean-Noel
FAYOLLE

Administrator
Resigned 02.03.18

√

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

Paul France
TENNANT

Administrator

√

-

-

√

-

-

-

-

2

Kamben
PADAYACHY

Club member

√

√

√

√

√

√

-

√

7

Ouma Shankar
OCHIT

Club member

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

8

Secretary
Finance &
Administrative
Manager

√

√

√

√

√

√

-

√

7

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

Benoit
HALBWACHS
Jérôme
TUCKMANSING

• Annual effectiveness review
The Audit and Risk Committee confirms that, for the
year under review, it has met the key objectives and
effectively carried out its responsibilities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE, NOMINATION &
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
• Terms of Reference
The Corporate Governance Committee advises the
Board on matters pertaining to Corporate Governance
and ensures that the principles of the National Code
of Corporate Governance acts as Nomination &
Remuneration Committee.

8

• Responsibilities:
-	Determine, agree and develop the Club’s general
policy on corporate governance in accordance
with the CCG;
-	Ensure that disclosures are made in the annual
report in compliance with the code’s disclosure
provisions; and
-	Have due regard for principles of governance and
code of best practice.

• Composition
From the 1st January 2018 to 1st March 2018:
The CGC comprised of three members of the Board
of Administrators and was chaired under the firm and
objective leadership of Mr. Frantz Merven, seconded
by Messrs. Mukesh Balgobin and Edgar Julienne.
From the 2nd March 2018 to date:
The CGC currently comprises of two members of
the Board of Administrators as well as one external
Member and is chaired under the firm and objective
leadership of Mr. Frantz Merven, seconded by one
Administrator namely Mr. Rajesh Servansing together
with an external member namely Mr. Neemalen Gopal.
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Attendance at Corporate Governance Committee meetings in 2018 - Meeting held 3.
Position

03/09/18

23/10/18

14/12/18

Total No. of meetings
attended

Frantz MERVEN

Administrator and Chairman of the CGC

√

√

√

3

Rajesh SERVANSING

Administrator

√

√

√

3

Neemalen GOPAL

Club member

√

√

√

3

Benoit HALBWACHS

Secretary

-

√

√

2

Jérôme TUCKMANSING Finance & Administrative Manager

√

√

√

3

• Annual Effectiveness Review
The Corporate Governance Committee confirms that,
for the year under review, it has met the key objectives
and effectively carried out its responsibilities.

In addition, the newly elected Administrators meet
the Managers and perform site visits to acquaint
themselves with MTC’s operations. All Administrators
have unrestricted access to the Club’s records.

PRINCIPLE 3: ADMINISTRATOR
APPOINTMENT PROCEDURES

MANAGEMENT TEAM

ELECTION OF THE ADMINISTRATORS AND PRESIDENT
The Board of the Mauritius Turf Club consists of six
Administrators. The Administrators are elected by
members of the Club. Once elected, the Administrator
holds office for a maximum of three years and
is eligible to reapply for election. Every year, two
Administrators will reach their three years office and
at the AGM of the Club end of February an election is
organised to replace the outgoing Administrators.
After the election, the Administrators will elect one of
their colleague as President who will hold office for
one year.

INDUCTION OF THE ADMINISTRATORS
The Board assumes its responsibility for the induction
of newly elected Administrators, through a process
which is facilitated by the Club secretary. They undergo
an induction programme under the guidance of the
club secretary, which enable them to gain an in-depth
understanding of the Club’s business, governance
framework and strategy. A letter of appointment is
signed by the newly elected Administrators.

MTC is managed by a skilled team of professional with
different backgrounds and experience.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
As part of their duties as Administrators, it is critical
for Board members to have a thorough knowledge
of the environment within which the Club operate.
Administrators continuously receive information on
the industry by assisting to conference organised
by horse racing authority and by visiting other race
courses.

SUCCESSION PLANNING
The Board assumes its responsibility for succession
planning which is a systematic effort and process
of identifying and developing candidates for key
leadership positions over time to ensure the continuity
of management and leadership in an organisation.
The objective of succession planning is to ensure that
the Organisation continues to operate successfully
when individuals occupying critical positions and hard
to replace competencies depart.

PRINCIPLE 4: ADMINISTRATORS’ DUTIES,
REMUNERATION AND PERFORMANCE
LEGAL DUTIES
Administrators are made aware of their legal duties
upon their election. Several documents and policies
have also been implemented to guide them, namely
the code of conduct and conflict of interest/related
party transactions policy.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE
A liability insurance cover for Directors and Officers
has been subscribed for by the MTC.

CONFLICT OF INTERESTS/RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS POLICY
Transactions with related parties are disclosed in the
financial statements. A Conflict of Interest/Related
Party Transactions Policy has been approved by the
Board to ensure that the deliberations and decisions
made by MTC are transparent and in the best interests
of the Club. It also aims to protect the interests of the
Officers from any appearance of impropriety and to
ensure compliance with statutory disclosures and
law. Notwithstanding the above, Administrators of
MTC are also invited by the Club Secretary, on an
annual basis, to notify the Club of any direct and
interest in any transactions or proposed transaction
with the Club.

REMUNERATION POLICY
The underlying philosophy is to set remuneration
at the right level to attract, retain and motivate high
calibre personnel and reward in alignment with their
individual as well as joint contribution towards the
achievement of MTC’s objective and performance,
whilst taking into consideration the current market
conditions and the Club’s financial position.

BOARD AND COMMITTEE FEES
The Administrators have not derived any
remuneration from the Club during year. Members
of the different committee have also not been
remunerated during the year.

SERVICE CONTRACTS
There were no service contracts between the Club
and its Administrators during the year.

PRINCIPLE 5: RISK GOVERNANCE AND
INTERNAL CONTROL
RISK GOVERNANCE
The Board is ultimately accountable for ensuring that
the Club develops and executes a comprehensive
and robust system of risk management. The Audit &
Risk Committee is mandated by the Board to monitor
the Club’s risk management process and systems
of internal control. The Club’s risk management
and internal control systems are designed to meet
the Club’s needs and manage the risks to which it
is exposed, including the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives. It should however be noted that
such risks cannot be eliminated and that systems can
only provide reasonable, but not absolute outcomes.
The systems can never completely protect against
such factors as unforeseeable events, fraud and
errors in judgement even after due consideration.
Risk Management Structure and Process
The risk practices of the Club were reviewed during
the financial year and was cascaded across MTC’s
various departments. This results in the formalisation
of the risk management protocols and ensures that
the Risk Management System progressively and
consistently matures within the Club.

ANNUAL EFFECTIVENESS REVIEW
The Board confirms that, for the year under review, it
has met the key objectives and effectively carried out
its responsibilities.
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The roles of each functions in risk management:

Board of Directors (“Board”):
-	To determine the nature and extent of the
principal risks it is willing to take to achieve the
Club’s strategic objectives.
-	To ensure that an appropriate risk culture has
been embedded throughout the organisation.
-	To produce a strategy statement that clarifies
risk appetite, risk ownership and the strategies to
tackle key risks.
Audit & Risk Committee:
-	To require that key risks are reported in a manner
that is efficient and accurate.
-	To challenge management on the completeness
of the risk population identified and any emerging
risks that may have been overlooked.
-	To oversee that actions formulated by management
to reduce risks within tolerable levels are
implemented effectively and on a timely basis.
Internal Audit:
Internal Audit’s role is to provide an independent
opinion on the adequacy of Risk Management by:
-	
Ensuring that the internal audit scope and
procedures follow a risk-based approach.
-	Commenting on the adequacy and effectiveness
of the methodology and processes of risk
identification and evaluation.
-	Commenting on the proposals for implementation
of risk management and expressing an opinion
on their overall adequacy.
-	Evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness of
controls in each area of major risk.
Internal Controls and Risk Management
The Club’s risk management and internal control
systems are designed to meet the Club’s needs and
manage the risks to which it is exposed, including
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.
It should however be noted that such risks cannot
be eliminated and that systems can only provide
reasonable, but not absolute outcomes. The systems
may never completely protect against such factors as
unforeseeable events, fraud and errors in judgement
even after due consideration.
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Principal Risks Descriptions
The key risks that could affect the Club and the way in
which each of these are managed are set out below.
Principal risks can generally be divided into strategic,
operational, compliance and financial risks. There are
other risks which are not described here which could
impact the Club, either because they are not currently
perceived as material or because they are presently
unknown.

Strategic Risks:
- Natural disasters and weather
- Epidemics affecting horses
- Government policy on betting
- Loss of key personnel
Financial Risks:
Financial risks relate to threats to the financial health
of the business, including its liquidity, profitability and
gearing levels.
- Liquidity risk
- Interest rate risk
- Credit risk
Operational Risks:
- Damages on racetrack causing accident
- Power cut during race meeting
- Weather conditions on race track
- Vandalism to race track
- Mistakes on race cards
- Announcement of wrong results
- Riots
- Public security during race meeting
Reputational Risks:
Negative publicity for the Club due to:
- Wrong decisions taken by the Club
- Horse doping
- Cheating cases where third parties are involved
- Case of money laundering with betting operators
- Appeal decision delays
- Leaks of confidential information

PRINCIPLE 6: REPORTING WITH INTEGRITY
The Administrators affirm their responsibilities in preparing the Annual Report and the Financial Statements
of the Club which comply with International Financial Reporting Standards and the Mauritius Registrar of
Association Act 1978. The Board also considers that taken, they are fair, balanced and understandable and
provide the information necessary for members and other stakeholders to assess MTC’s position, performance
and outlook.
CHARITABLE AND POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS

Political Donations
Other

FY 31 Dec 18

FY 31 Dec 17

Rs

Rs

-

-

323,035

149,631

PRINCIPLE 7: AUDIT

INTERNAL AUDIT

EXTERNAL AUDIT

Internal audit is an independent function which
examines and evaluates the activities and
appropriateness of the systems of internal control, risk
management and governance. MTC has outsourced
the internal audit function since 2015 to PwC and was
replaced by Deloitte in December 2018. Risk based
internal audit plans that typically include internal
audit reviews at both corporate and operational
levels are developed every year and approved by the
Audit & Risk Committee (“ARC”). Internal audit reports
on control effectiveness are submitted at the ARC
meetings in line with the agreed internal audit plan.
Management formulates and commits to remediation
actions with clear timelines and responsible parties
to address the findings of the internal auditors. The
internal audit team reports to the Chairman of the
ARC and, in addition, has unrestricted access to the
Club’s records and information, its employees and
the management team as required.

BDO & Co Ltd (“BDO”) were appointed external
auditors of the Club for the financial year ended
31st December 2018, in replacement of RSM Mauritius.
The external auditor, whose report is included in
the audited financial statements, is responsible for
providing an independent opinion on the financial
statements. The external audit function offers
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance on the fair
presentation of the financial disclosures.
To adhere to the new and revised Auditor Reporting
Standards comprise, amongst others, the new ISA
701, the auditor’s report also includes the Key Audit
Matters which are those matters that, in the external
auditor’s professional judgement, are of the most
significance in the audit of the financial statements.
The list of these Key Audit Matters is taken up for
discussion with the members of the Audit & Risk
Committee (“ARC”) in the presence of the management
prior to finalising. In line with the recommendations
of the Code, members of the ARC met the team of
BDO without management’s presence. Fees paid to
the external auditors for both audit and other services
performed during the year are set out in the section
other statutory disclosures.
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PRINCIPLE 8: RELATION WITH MEMBERS AND OTHER KEY STAKEHOLDERS
THE MEMBERSHIP STRUCTURE OF THE MTC

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
(Section 75(3) Financial Reporting Act)

The MTC counts seven categories of Members: Honorary Members, Life Members, Founder Members,
Associate Member, Non-Active Founders, Overseas Founder Members and Temporary Members.

Name of Reporting Entity: THE MAURITIUS TURF CLUB
Reporting Period: 31st December 2018

It is useful to note that, by virtue of the MTC’s Statutes, only Founder Members and Life Members are entitled
to receive notice of the Members’ meetings and cast a vote at the Annual General Meeting of Members and
the Board of Administrators may convene any ad-hoc meeting if needed.

On behalf of the Board of Directors of MTC, we confirm, to the best of our knowledge, that throughout the year
ended 31st December 2018 and to the best of the Board’s knowledge, the Club has partially complied with the
obligations of the National Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius (2016).

Each and every Member of the MTC shall compulsorily abide with the provisions of the MTC’s Statutes, as
amended from time-to-time and any other code of conduct as may be adopted by the Board of Administrators
(“Rules of the Club”), under pain of being subject to an enquiry by a Disciplinary Committee. Acting under the
conclusion of the Disciplinary Committee, the Board of Administrator has a wide array of sanctions ranging
up to the permanent exclusion of the Member found guilty of having committed a breach of any of the
Rules of the Club or has been found guilty of conduct detrimental to the interests or reputation of the Club.
Any so-sanctioned Member has a right of appeal against the ruling of the Disciplinary Committee.
Inasmuch as the Club is a non-profit making Association, the Members of the MTC are, by virtue of a distribution
constraint, not entitled to a share in any surplus which may have been performed by the Club nor to any share
of the MTC’s surplus asset in the event of the Club’s dissolution.
The MTC counted 896 Members in 2018, as compared to 971 in 2017.

Areas of non-application of the code
PRINCIPLE
2. S
 tructure of the Board and its
Committees

2. S
 tructure of the Board and its
Committees
4. A
 dministrators’ duties, remuneration
and performance

DESCRIPTION
Gender balance of the Board

REASON FOR NON-COMPLIANCE
Administrators are elected in the Annual General
Meeting by the Club’s members. The membership
of women represents less than 5% resulting in very
few women willing to be candidates giving a higher
chance for men to be elected.

Directorship in other companies

The Club is registered as an Association and not a
company.

Independent evaluation of individual
Administrators

The Corporate Governance Committee has
started to work on the evaluation process of
Administrators to be implemented in 2019.

MEMBERSHIP TABLE
500
408

400

437

SIGNED BY:

300
203

200
100
0

222

169 169

51
17

64

48

17

New
Members

53
0

Founders
Ordinary

Founders
Overseas

Life
Members
2018

Non-active
Founders

Associate
Members

0

Temporary
Members

0

9

Honorary
Members

2017

ACTIVE INVOLMENT OF MTC MEMBERS
In line with the diversity requirement of good and sound Corporate Governance policies, the Board came in
with an innovative measure since last year which consists in putting some of its Members to contribution. This
innovative measure got translated by the bringing in of valuable input and pro bono time commitment from high
caliber and profile experienced professionals coming from various specialized horizons and possessing a high
degree of business and corporate acumen into some of the MTC’s Committees in an aim to achieve the greater
good in and for the utmost interest of the Club. Besides the Audit & Risk Committee whereby considerable
input has been brought in by Messrs. Kamben Padayachi and Ouma Shankar Ochit and also for the Corporate
Governance Committee by Mr Neemalen Gopal, two other sub-committees (to wit the Sponsorship Committee
and the Retired Racehorse Committee) have benefitted from the active involvement of MTC Members.
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Kamal TAPOSEEA
President of the
Board of Administrators

Frantz MERVEN
Chairman of the Corporate
Governance Committee

Rajesh SERVANSING
Chairman of the Audit &
Risk Committee

20th February 2019
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Making memories is
the highlight of the
International Jockeys’
Weekend
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The Administrators have pleasure in submitting the Annual Report of The Mauritius Turf Club together with the
audited financial statements for the year ended December 31st, 2018.

SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATE
For the year ended 31st December 2018

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY
The main activity of the Club is to organise horse racing in Mauritius. The Club also operates a Studio for horse racing
broadcast.

We certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the Club has filed with the Registrar of Associations all such
returns as are required of the Club under the Registration of Associations Act 1978 in terms of Section 23(1).

RESULTS
The surplus for the year is Rs 4,664,947 (2017: Rs 2,296,427).
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF ADMINISTRATORS
Name

Date appointed

Mr Rajkamal Taposeea
Mr Paul France Tennant
Mr A.J Frantz Merven
Mr Locknath Servansing
Mr Denis Doger de Spéville

21-Feb-17
26-Feb-16
21-Feb-17
02-Mar-18
02-Mar-18

Mr Benoit HALBWACHS
Secretary
20th February 2019

ADMINISTRATORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
There are no service contracts between the Club and its administrators.
ADMINISTRATORS REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS
No emoluments were paid by the club to the Administrators of the Club.
DONATIONS
Donations amounting to Rs 323,035 (2017: Rs 149,631) were made during the year.
PROFESSIONAL FEES
2018

2017

Rs

Rs

Audit fees paid to:
- BDO & Co
- RSM Mauritius
Tax fees

200,000
74,117

230,000
74,117

Approved by the Board of Administators on 20th February 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

		
Mr Kamal TAPOSEEA		
Mr Rajesh SERVANSING
President			Administator
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D)

To the Members of The Mauritius Turf Club

To the Members of The Mauritius Turf Club

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Responsibilities of administrators and those charged with governance for the financial statements (cont’d)

Opinion

In preparing the financial statements, the administrators are responsible for assessing the club’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the administrators either intend to liquidate the club or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

We have audited the financial statements of The Mauritius Turf Club (the Club), on pages 53 to 82 which comprise
the statement of financial position as at December 31st, 2018, and the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, statement of changes in accumulated funds and reserves and statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 53 to 82 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Club
as at December 31st, 2018, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and comply with the Registration of Associations Act 1978.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Club in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Mauritius, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Other information
The Administrators are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Administrators’
report and the Corporate Governance, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of Administrators and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
The Administrators are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with the requirements of the
Registration of Associations Act 1978, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the club’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
isas will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with isas, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
•	Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
•	Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
club’s internal control.
•	Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by administrators.
•	Conclude on the appropriateness of administrators’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the club’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
club to cease to continue as a going concern.
•	Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

To the Members of The Mauritius Turf Club

For the year ended 31st December 2018

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Financial Reporting Act 2004
The Board of Administrators are responsible for preparing the Corporate Governance Report. Our responsibility is
to report the extent of compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance as disclosed in the annual report and on
whether the disclosure is consistent with the requirements of the Code.
In our opinion, the disclosure in the annual report is consistent with the requirements of the Code.
Other Matter
This report is made solely to the members of The Mauritius Turf Club (the “Club”). Our audit work has been undertaken
so that we might state to the Club’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Club and the Club’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions
we have formed.

Notes

2018
Rs

2017
Rs

599,026,001

ASSETS EMPLOYED
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

5

677,935,180

Investment in subsidiary company

6

1,000

-

Investment in associate

7

23,762,420

22,557,820

Deferred tax assets

8

10,073,992

4,322,081

711,772,592

625,905,902

Current assets
Inventories

9

1,111,865

613,599

Trade and other receivables

10

31,053,031

41,786,692

-

226,164

Current tax asset
Cash and cash equivalents

20

Total assets

4,203,637

6,227,882

36,368,533

48,854,337

748,141,125

674,760,239

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Accumulated funds and reserves
(1,764,834)

Accumulated funds
Revaluation reserves

					
BDO & Co
Afsar Ebrahim, FCA
Chartered Accountants
Licensed by FRC
Port Louis,
Mauritius

30,908,926

631,942,017

552,074,508

630,177,183

582,983,434

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

11

2,839,909

6,289,179

Retirement benefit obligations

12

77,426,876

31,732,072

80,266,785

38,021,251

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

13

23,369,541

27,286,033

Borrowings

11

12,831,748

26,469,521

Current tax liabilities

14

1,495,868

-

37,697,157

53,755,554

748,141,125

674,760,239

Total equity and liabilities

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Administrators on 20th February 2019:

			
Mr Kamal TAPOSEEA			
Mr Rajesh SERVANSING
President				Administator
The notes on pages 57 to 82 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditor’s report on pages 50 to 52.
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31st December 2018

For the year ended 31st December 2018

Notes

2018
Rs

2017
Rs

Notes

2018
Rs

2017
Rs

20(a)

24,454,043

1,862,107

Cash flows from operating activities
Revenue

15

383,075,675

341,224,121

Cash generated from operations

Direct expenses

16

(274,500,679)

(248,167,107)

Interest received

108,574,996

93,057,014

Surplus

364,700

Other income

17

Other expenses

18

(90,706,335)

(82,697,196)

Depreciation

5(a)

(9,146,732)

(7,818,020)

9,086,629

2,541,798

Surplus before finance costs and taxation
Net finance costs

19

(1,700,412)

-

(511,117)

Interest paid
Tax paid
Net cash generated from operating activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

1,204,600

1,309,942

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

Surplus before taxation

8,590,817

3,340,623

Purchase of investment in financial assets

(3,925,870)

(1,044,196)

Net cash used in investing activities

4,664,947

2,296,427

Surplus for the year

14

26,720

(1,549,394)

(929,880)

(17,150)

(222,060)

22,887,499

736,887

Cash flows from investing activities

Share of profits in associate
Taxation

-

5

(8,188,402)
364,700

6

(1,000)
(7,824,702)

(14,079,291)
(14,079,291)

Cash flows from financing activities
Other comprehensive income:

Finance lease received

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Finance lease principal payments

(4,370,429)

(2,280,900)

Net cash used in financing activities

(4,370,429)

5,938,329

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

10,692,368

(7,404,075)

(15,871,210)

(8,467,135)

(Decrease)/Increase

10,692,368

(7,404,075)

At December 31,

(5,178,842)

(15,871,210)

Gain on revaluation of land and buildings
Remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations
Total comprehensive income for the year

79,867,509

-

7,647,227

5,018,000

92,179,683

7,314,427

-

8,219,229

Movement in cash and cash equivalents
At July 1,

The notes on pages 57 to 82 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditor’s report on pages 50 to 52.
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The notes on pages 57 to 82 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditor’s report on pages 50 to 52.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ACCUMULATED FUNDS AND RESERVES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December 2018

For the year ended 31st December 2018

Notes
At January 1, 2018
- As previously reported
Remeasurement of retirement benefit obligations

12(a)(i)

Effect of deferred tax on remeasurement

Revaluation
Surplus

Total

Rs

Rs

Rs

30,908,926

552,074,508

(52,924,534)
(14,077,008)

Surplus for the year

582,983,434
-

7,938,600

- As restated

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

(Deficit)/
Surplus

(52,924,534)
7,938,600

552,074,508

537,997,500

4,664,947

-

4,664,947

7,647,227

-

7,647,227

Other comprehensive income for the year
- Remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations

-

79,867,509

79,867,509

Total comprehensive income for the year

- Revaluation of land and buildings

12,312,174

79,867,509

92,179,683

At December 31, 2018

(1,764,834)

631,942,017

630,177,183

At January 1, 2017

23,594,499

552,074,508

575,669,007

2,296,427

-

2,296,427

- Remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations

5,018,000

-

5,018,000

Total comprehensive income for the year

7,314,427

-

7,314,427

30,908,926

552,074,508

582,983,434

Surplus for the year

23

Other comprehensive income for the year

At December 31, 2017

The Mauritius Turf Club (“the Club”) is registered with the Registrar of Association and domiciled in Mauritius. Its
registered office is situated at Eugene Laurent Street, Champs De Mars, Port-Louis. The principal activity of the
Club consistes of organising horse racing in Mauritius. These financial statements will be submitted for approval
at the forthcoming annual meeting.
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements of the Mauritius Turf Club comply with the Registration of Association Act 1978 and have
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
The financial statements are that of an individual entity. They are presented in Mauritian Rupees.
Where necessary, comparative figures have been amended to conform with change in presentation in the current
year. The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except that:
(i) land and buildings are carried out at revlaued amounts;
(ii) relevant financial assets and financial liabilities are stated at their fair value; and
(iii) relevant financial assets and financial liabilities are stated at amortised cost.

Standards, Amendments to published Standards and Interpretations effective in the reporting period
IFRS 9 replaces the provisions of IAS 39 that relate to the recognition, classification and measurement of financial
assets and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments, impairment of financial assets and hedge
accounting. The adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments from January 1st, 2018 resulted in changes in accounting
policies and adjustments to the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The new accounting policies are
set out in note 2.5. The Club has elected to apply the exemption in IFRS 9 paragraph 7.2.15 not to restate prior
periods in the year of initial application of the standard. The Club has chosen to adopt the simplified expected
credit loss model for trade receivables in accordance with IFRS 9 paragraph 5.5.15.
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers is based on the principle that revenue is recognised when control
of a good or service transfers to a customer. The Club has adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
from January 1st, 2018 which resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts recognised
in the financial statements. The new accounting policies are set out in note 2.31. In accordance with the transition
provisions in IFRS 15, the Club has not restated comparatives for the 2017 financial year.
Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions (Amendments to IFRS 2).
The amendments clarify the measurement basis for cash-settled share-based payments and the accounting for
modifications that change an award from cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendment has no impact on the
Club’s financial statements.
Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (Amendments to IFRS 4).
The amendment provides two different solutions for insurance companies: a temporary exemption from IFRS 9
for entities that meet specific requirements (applied at the reporting entity level), and the ‘overlay approach’.
Both approaches are optional. The amendment has no impact on the Club’s financial statements.

The notes on pages 57 to 82 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditor’s report on pages 50 to 52.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December 2018

For the year ended 31st December 2018

2.

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.1 Basis of preparation (cont’d)

Standards, Amendments to published Standards and Interpretations effective in the reporting period (cont’d)
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle
•	IFRS 1 - deleted short-term exemptions covering transition provisions of IFRS 7, IAS 19 and IFRS 10 which are
no longer relevant.
•	IAS 28 - clarifies that the election by venture capital organisations, mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities
to measure investments in associates or joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss should be made
separately for each associate or joint venture at initial recognition. The amendment has no impact on the Club’s
financial statements.
IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration. The interpretation clarifies how to determine
the date of transaction for the exchange rate to be used on initial recognition of a related asset, expense or
income where an entity pays or receives consideration in advance for foreign currency-denominated contracts.
The amendment has no impact on the Club’s financial statements.
Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to IAS 40). The amendments clarify that transfers to, or from,
investment property can only be made if there has been a change in use that is supported by evidence. A change in
use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property. A change in intention
alone is not sufficient to support a transfer. The amendment has no impact on the Club’s financial statements.

Standards, Amendments to published Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective
Certain standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations have been issued that are mandatory for
accounting periods beginning on or after January 1st, 2019 or later periods, but which the Club has not early adopted.
At the reporting date of these financial statements, the following were in issue but not yet effective:
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28).
IFRS 16
IFRS 17
IFRIC 23

Leases
Insurance Contracts
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Prepayment Features with negative compensation (Amendments to IFRS 9)
Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to IAS 28)
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle
Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to IAS 19)
Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3)
Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)
Where relevant, the Club is still evaluating the effect of these Standards, Amendments to published Standards
and Interpretations issued but not yet effective, on the presentation of its financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.2 Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings, held for use in the production or supply of goods or for administrative purposes, are stated
at fair value, based on periodic, but at least triennial valuations, by external independent valuers, less subsequent
depreciation for buildings. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the
gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. All other
property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Costs may also include transfers from equity of any
gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.
Subsequent costs are included in the assets’ carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Club and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably.
Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation are credited to Other comprehensive income and shown
as revaluation surplus in members’ equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged
against revaluation surplus directly in equity; all other decreases are charged to profit or loss.
Each year the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset and
depreciation based on the asset’s original cost is transferred from revaluation surplus to retained earnings.
Properties in course of major renovations works or construction for administrative purposes or purposes not
yet determined are carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight line method to write off the cost or revalued amounts of the assets to
their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:
Freehold building
Office equipments
Studio equipments
Furniture, fittings & equipment
Motor vehicles

Years
50
4
6.67
10
5

%
2
25
15
10
20

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted prospectively if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing proceeds with
carrying amount and are included in the profit or loss. On disposal of revalued assets, the amounts included in
revaluation surplus are transferred to retained earnings.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the club’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December 2018

For the year ended 31st December 2018

2.

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.3 Investment in subsidiaries
Subsidiaires are all entities (excluding structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvment with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred
and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the fair value of the
indentifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference s recognised directly in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.
Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also elimiated.
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interest as transactions with equity owners of the Group. For
purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to noncontrolling interests are also recorded in equity.
When the Group ceases to have control, any related interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asst. In addition, any
amounts previously recognised other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.
2.4 Investment in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence but not control, or joint control, generally
accompanying a shareholding between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method except when classified as held-for-sale.
Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost as adjusted by post-acquisition changes in the group’s
share of the net assets of the associate less ny impairment in the value of individual investments.
Any excess of the cost of acquisition and the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable
assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included in the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of identifiable assets and
laibilities over the cost of acquisition, after assessment, is included as income in the determination of the Group’s
share of the associate’s profit or loss.
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When the Group’s share of losses axceeds its interest in an associate, the Group discontinues recognising further
losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligation or made payments on behalf of the associate.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.4 Investment in associates (cont’d)
Unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Where necessary, appropriate adjsutments are made to the financial statements of associates to bring the
accounting policies used in line with those adopted by the Group.
If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
2.5 Financial assets
The Club classifies its financial assets into one of the categories discussed below, depending on the purpose
for which the asset was acquired. Other than financial asset in a qualifying hedging relationship, the Club’s
accounting policy for each category is as follows:
(i)

Fair value through profit or loss

The Club classifies the following financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL):
- debt investments that do not qualify for measurement at either amortised cost or FVOCI;
- equity investments that are held for trading;
- equity investments for which the entity has not elected to recognise fair value gains and losses through OCI; and
- derivative financial instruments not designated as hedging instruments.
(ii) Amortised cost
These assets arise principally from the provision of goods and services to customers (eg trade receivables), but also
incorporate other types of financial assets where the objective is to hold these assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows and the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. They are initially recognised
at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue, and are subsequently
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment.
Impairment provisions for trade receivables are recognised based on the simplified approach within IFRS 9
using the lifetime expected credit losses. During this process the probability of the non-payment of the trade
receivables is assessed. This probability is then multiplied by the amount of the expected loss arising from
default to determine the lifetime expected credit loss for the trade receivables. For trade receivables, which are
reported net, such provisions are recorded in a separate provision account with the loss being recognised within
cost of sales in the statement of comprehensive income. On confirmation that the trade receivable will not be
collectable, the gross carrying value of the asset is written off against the associated provision.
Impairment provisions for receivables from related parties and loans to related parties are recognised based on
a forward looking expected credit loss model. The methodology used to determine the amount of the provision
is based on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial
asset. For those where the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition of the financial
asset, twelve month expected credit losses along with gross interest income are recognised. For those for which
credit risk has increased significantly, lifetime expected credit losses along with the gross interest income are
recognised. For those that are determined to be credit impaired, lifetime expected credit losses along with
interest income on a net basis are recognised.
From time to time, the Club elects to renegotiate the terms of trade receivables due from customers with which
it has previously had a good trading history. Such renegotiations will lead to changes in the timing of payments
rather than changes to the amounts owed and, in consequence, the new expected cash flows are discounted at
the original effective interest rate and any resulting difference to the carrying value is recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income (operating profit).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December 2018

For the year ended 31st December 2018

2.

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.5 Financial assets (cont’d)

2.6 Financial liabilities (cont’d)

(ii) Amortised cost (cont’d)

(ii) Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities include the following items:

The Club’s financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade and other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents in the statement of financial position.
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand and at bank for the purpose of the statement of cash flows bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within loans and borrowings in current liabilities on the statement
of financial position.
(ii) Fair value through other comprehensive income
Strategic investments in listed and unlisted entities which are not accounted for as subsidiaries, associates
or jointly controlled entities. For those investments, an irrevocable election need to be made to classify the
investments at fair value through other comprehensive income rather than through profit or loss if this method
is considered to be the most representative of the business model for these assets. They are carried at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value through
other comprehensive income reserve. Upon disposal any balance within fair value through other comprehensive
income reserve is reclassified directly to retained earnings and is not reclassified to profit or loss.

- Liability components of convertible loan notes are measured.
- Trade payables and other short-term monetary liabilities, which are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
2.7 Leases

As at December 31st, 2018, the Club has no such investment.

(a)	Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. Payments made
under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

The Club has no debt securities whose objective is achieved by both holding these securities in order to collect
contractual cash flows and having the intention to sell the debt securities before maturity. The contractual terms
of the debt securities give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding. They are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the fair value through other comprehensive income reserve. Upon disposal any
balance within fair value through other comprehensive income reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

(b) Accounting for leases
Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and
the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance
charges are charged to profit or loss unless they are attributable to qualifying assets in which case, they are
capitalised in accordance with the policy on borrowing costs (note 2.8).

Purchases and sales of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
recognised on settlement date with any change in fair value between trade date and settlement date being
recognised in the fair value through other comprehensive income reserve.

(c) Operating leases
Assets leased out under operating leases are included in property, plant and equipment in the statement of
financial position. They are depreciated over their expected useful lives on a basis consistent with similar fixed
assets. Rental income is recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term.

2.6 Financial liabilities
The Club classifies its financial liabilities into one of two categories, depending on the purpose for which the
liability was acquired.
Other than financial liabilities in a qualifying hedging relationship, the Club’s accounting policy for each category
is as follows:
(i)

Bank borrowings are initially recognised at fair value net of any transaction costs directly attributable to the
issue of the instrument. Such interest bearing liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method, which ensures that any interest expense over the period to repayment is at a
constant rate on the balance of the liability carried in the statement of financial position. For the purposes of each
financial liability, interest expense includes initial transaction costs and any premium payable on redemption, as
well as any interest or coupon payable while the liability is outstanding.

2.8 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are
capitalised until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Other borrowing costs are expensed.

Fair value through profit or loss
This category comprises only out-of-the-money derivatives. They are carried in the statement of financial position
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. As at December
31, 2018, the Club does not hold any such financial laibilities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December 2018

For the year ended 31st December 2018

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.

2.9

Current and deffered income tax

2.12 Retirement benefit obligations (cont’d)

The tax expense for the period comprises of current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other compreensive income or directly in equity.

(b)

Current tax

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan. Typically defined benefit plans
define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or
more factors such as age, years of service and compensation.

The current income tax charge is based on taxable income for the year calculated on the basis of tax laws enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, if the
deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction, other than a business
combination, that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, it is not
accounted for.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date period and are expected to apply in the period when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available
against which deductible temporary differences and losses can be utilised.
2.10 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by the first-in, first-out
(FIFO) method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business, less any
applicable variable selling expenses.
2.11 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value being their issue proceeds nets of transaction costs incurred.
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Club has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least twelve months after the end of the reporting period.
2.12 Retirement benefit obligations
The Club has a mix of defined contribution plan and defined benefit plan for the year ended December 31, 2018.
(a)

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Club pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity. The Club has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.
Payments to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
that entitle them to the contributions.
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Defined benefit plans

The liability recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets.
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit
method.
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses arising from
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions, the return on plan assets (excluding interest)
and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), is recognised immediately in other comprehensive
income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income shall not
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent period.
The Club determines the net interest expense/(income) on the net defined benefit liability/(asset) for the period
by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual
period to the net defined benefit liability/(asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined liability/
(asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense/(income) is
recognised in profit or loss.
Service costs comprising current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments and
settlements are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
2.13 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Club has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources, that can be reliably estimated, will be required to settle the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is immaterial).
2.14 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated at fair value and subsequently mesured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
2.15 Foreign currencies
(a)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are measured using Mauritian rupees, the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The financial statements are
presented in Mauritian rupees, which is the Club’s functional and presentation currency.
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2.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.15 Foreign currencies (cont’d)
(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow
hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.
Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented in
profit or loss within ‘finance income or cost’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in profit
or loss within ‘other (losses)/gains - net’.
Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rate at the date of the transaction.
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss, are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities
classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are included in the fair value reserve in equity.
2.16 Revenue recognition
(a)	Most of the revenue is derived from fixed price contracts with Betting Operators and therefore the amount
of revenue to be earned from each contract is determined by reference to those fixed prices.
The Club also sells Racetime Magazines and its revenue is recognised at a point in time when control of the goods
has transferred to the customer. This is generally when the goods are delivered to the customer. There is limited
judgement needed in identifying the point control passes: once physical delivery of the products to the agreed
location has occurred, the Club no longer has physical possession, usually will have a present right to payment
(as a single payment on delivery) and retains none of the significant risks and rewards of the goods in question.

3.1 Financial Risk Factors
The club’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including:
• Credit risk;
• Currency risk;
• Liquidity risk; and
• Cashflow and fair value interest rate risk.
A description of the significant risk factors is given below together with the risk management policies applicable.
(a) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, contractual cash flows of debt investments carried at amortised
cost, at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding
receivables.
Risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience
and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set
by the board. The compliance with credit limits by customers is regularly monitored by line management.
Sales to retail customers are required to be settled in cash or using major credit cards, mitigating credit risk.
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk, whether through exposure to individual customers, specific
industry sectors and/or regions.
(b) Currency risk
The club is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to
the EURO.
Management has set up a policy to require the club to manage its foreign exchange risk exposure with treasury.
Currency profile:

(b) Other revenues earned by the Club are recognised on the following bases:
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).
2.17 Exceptional items
Exceptional items are disclosed separately in the financial statements where it is necessary to do so to provide
further understanding of the financial performance of the Club. They are material items of income or expense
that have been shown separately due to the significance of their nature or amount.
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Mauritian Rupee
Euro

2018

2017

Financial
assets
Rs

Financial
liabilities
Rs

Financial
assets
Rs

Financial
liabilities
Rs

38,077,185

39,639,055

47,945,194

59,799,590

179,483

-

50,405

-

38,256,668

39,639,055

47,995,599

59,799,590

At December 31st, 2018, if the rupee had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the Euro with all other variable held
constant the club’s post tax profit and accumulated funds and reserves would have been Rs 7,628 (2017: Rs 2,142)
lower/higher following changes in foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of foreign bank balances, trade
debtors and trade and other payables.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

3.1 Financial Risk Factors

3.1 Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

(c) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

(c) Capital risk management (cont’d)

The club’s interest-rate risk arises from borrowings.
For the year ended December 31st, 2018 and 2017, the Club was not materially exposed to cash flow and fair
value interest rate risk and as such had interest rates been 50 basis points higher/lower with other variables held
constant, the impact on post-tax profit would not be significant.

Total debt

(d) Liquidity risk

Less: cash and cash equivalents

2018
Rs

2017
Rs

117,065,931

91,531,662

(4,203,637)

(6,227,748)

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities. The Club aims at maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping
committed credit lines available.

Net debt

112,862,294

85,303,914

Accumulated funds and reserves

636,027,059

582,983,437

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the club’s liquidity reserve on the basis of expected cash flow and does
not foresee any major liquidity risk over the next two years.

Debt-to-accumulated funds and reserves ratio

0.18:1

0.15:1

The table below analyses the club’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date:
Less than
1 year
Rs

Between 1
and 2 years
Rs

Between 2
and 5 years
Rs

After 5 years
Rs

2,539,498

300,411

-

At December 31, 2018
Trade and other
payables

23,369,541

Borrowings

12,831,748

At December 31, 2017
Trade and other
payables

27,286,033

Borrowings

26,469,521

3,449,269

2,839,909

-

(e) Capital risk management
The Club’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern so
that it can continue to provide returns for members and benefits for other stakeholders.
The Club sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The club manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the club may adjust the return capital to members or
sell reduce debt.
Consistently with others in the Industry, the Club monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-accumulated funds
and reserves ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt adjusted to accumulated funds and reserves. Net debt is
calculated as total debt (as shown in the statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents.
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During 2018, the Club’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2017, was to maintain the debt-to-accumulated
funds and reserves ratio in order to secure access to finance at a reasonable cost. The debt-to-accumulated
funds and reserves ratios at December 31st, 2018 and at December 31st, 2017 were as follows:

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and judgements are continuously evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Club makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities with the next financial year are
discussed below.
(a) Impairment of financial assets
The loss allowances for financial assets are bassed on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Club uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Club’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period.
(b) Asset lives and residual values
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over its useful life taking into account residual values, where
appropriate. The actual lives of the assets and residual values are assessed anually and may vary depending on
a number of factors. In reassessing asset lives, factors such as technological innovation, product life cycles and
maintenance programmes are taken into account. Residual value assessments consider issues such as future
market conditions, the remaining life of the asset and projected disposal values. Considerartion is also given to
the extent of current profits and losses on the disposal of similar assets.
(c) Depreciation policies
Plant and equipment are depreciated to their residual values over their estimated useful lives. The residual value
of an asset is the estimated net amount that the club would currently obtain from disposal of the asset if the
asset was already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.
The administrators therefore make estimates based on historical experience and use best judgement to assess
the useful lives of assets and to forecast the expected residual values of the assets at the end of their expected
useful lives.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONT’D)

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(d) Pension benefits
The present value of the pension obligations depend on a number of factors that are determined on an actual basis
using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for pensions include
the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension obligations.
The Club determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate that should be
used to determine the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to be required to settle the pension
obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Club considers the interest rates of high-quality
corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to
maturity approximating the terms of the related pension obligation.
(e) Revaluation of property, plant and equipment
The Club mesures land and buildings at revalued amounts with changes in fair value being recognised in other
comprehensive income. The Club engaged independent valuation specialists to determine fair values as at
December 31st, 2018.

(a)

Freehold
Land

Freehold
Building

Office
Equipments

Studio
Equipments

Furniture,
Fittings and
other
equipment

Rs

Rs

Rs

Rs

Rs

Motor
Vehicles

Total

Rs

Rs

COST OR VALUATION
At January 1, 2018
Additions
Disposal
Revaluation adjustment
At December 31, 2018

440,500,000
74,550,000
515,050,000

157,180,759
3,486,302
(17,767,061)
142,900,000

11,110,906
1,007,731
12,118,637

66,512,627
315,475
66,828,102

39,403,150
3,333,990
42,737,140

24,813,615
44,904
(3,946,024)
20,912,495

739,521,057
8,188,402
(3,946,024)
56,782,939
800,546,374

DEPRECIATION
At January 1, 2018
Charge for the year
Disposal adjustment
Revaluation adjustment
At December 31, 2018

-

19,832,157
3,252,412
(23,084,569)
-

9,882,906
632,344
10,515,250

51,500,114
3,401,419
54,901,533

37,102,341
996,624
38,098,965

22,177,538
863,932
(3,946,024)
19,095,446

140,495,056
9,146,731
(3,946,024)
(23,084,569)
122,611,194

1,603,387

11,926,569

4,638,175

1,817,049

677,935,180

Motor
Vehicles

Total

NET BOOK VALUES
At December 31, 2018

515,050,000

142,900,000

Freehold
Land

Freehold
Building

Office
Equipments

Studio
Equipments

Furniture,
Fittings and
other
equipment

COST OR VALUATION
At January 1, 2017
Additions
At December 31, 2017

Rs

Rs

Rs

Rs

Rs

Rs

Rs

440,500,000
440,500,000

156,297,459
883,300
157,180,759

10,386,506
724,400
11,110,906

56,187,154
10,325,473
66,512,627

38,842,049
561,101
39,403,150

23,228,598
1,585,017
24,813,615

725,441,766
14,079,291
739,521,057

DEPRECIATION
At January 1, 2017
Charge for the year
At December 31, 2017

-

16,609,718
3,222,439
19,832,157

9,425,925
456,981
9,882,906

48,809,008
2,691,106
51,500,114

36,278,330
824,011
37,102,341

21,554,055
623,483
22,177,538

132,677,036
7,818,020
140,495,056

440,500,000

137,348,602

1,228,000

15,012,513

2,300,809

2,636,077

599,026,001

(b)

NET BOOK VALUES
At December 31, 2017

(c) T
 he Club’s land and building were revalued on January 17th, 2019 by Gexim Real Estate Ltd, at Rs 657,950,000
based on direct market comparison approach.
The revaluations were effected on December 31st, 2018.
If the revalued assets were stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would have been as follows:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

Rs
49,092,553
(23,084,570)
26,007,983

(d) B
 ank overdraft is secured by floating charges on the assets of the Club (movable and immovable properties),
including property, plant and equipment (note 11(a)).
70

71

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December 2018

For the year ended 31st December 2018

6. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANY

8. DEFERRED INCOME TAXES
2018

2017

Rs

Rs

COST
-

-

Additions

1,000

-

At December 31,

1,000

-

Stated Capital

Proportion of
ownership

2018

2018

Rs

%

1,000

100

At January 1,

Class of
shares held

MTC Sports and Leisure Ltd

Financial
Year End

Ordinary

December 31,

Shares

2018

The subsidiary was incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius on January 13th, 2017 and its main business is Tote
Organiser. It has not yet started operation since incorporation and has no business transaction except for the issue
of share capital.
7. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE
2018

2017

Rs

Rs

22,557,820

21,247,878

361,615

-

COST
At January 1,

Deferred income tax is calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method at 15% (2017: 15%).
(a)	There is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and deferred income
tax assets and liabilities when the deferred income taxes relate to the fiscal authority on the same entity. The
following amounts are shown in the statement of financial position.
2018
Deferred income tax assets

- current year
At December 31,

Name of associate
Quantilab Ltd

Class of
shares held

Country of
incorporation

Ordinary

Mauritius

842,985

1,309,942

23,762,420

22,557,820

(1,540,040)

(1,232,806)
4,322,081

2018

2017

Rs

Rs

At January 1,

4,322,081

5,366,277

Remeasurement of retirement benefit obligations (note 12)

7,938,600

(b) The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

(2,186,689)

(1,044,196)

At December 31,

10,073,992

4,322,081

(c)	The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the
offsetting of balances within the same fiscal authority on the same entity, is as follows:

Retirement benefit obligation
30

2018

2017

Rs

Rs

Current assets

22,990,916

18,372,318

Non-current assets

81,329,651

87,838,369

(24,043,620)

(24,846,140)

Non-current liabilities

(1,068,880)

Net assets

79,208,067

Share of profit
Carrying amount of the investment (share of net assets)
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Deferred
tax
charge

At
December 31,
2018

Rs

Rs

Rs

795,076

(795,076)

-

4,759,811

6,854,220

11,614,031

5,554,887

6,059,144

11,614,031

(4,966,430)

Accelerated tax depreciation

(604,306)

(138,107)

(742,413)

Assets revaluation

(628,500)

(169,126)

(797,626)

(1,232,806)

(307,233)

(1,540,039)

Net deferred income tax asset

63,977,049

56,655,960

1,204,600

1,309,942

23,762,420

22,557,820

4,322,081

5,751,911

10,073,992

9. INVENTORIES

76,398,117

Share of the associate’s revenue and profit:
Revenue

At
January 1,
2018

Deferred income tax liability

The following table illustrates summarised financial information of the Club’s investment in associate:

Current liabilities

-

Profit or loss charge (note 14)

Accumulated tax losses

2017
30

Rs
5,554,887

Deferred income tax assets

% Holding
2018

Rs
11,614,032
10,073,992

Deferred income tax liabilities

Share of result of associate
- understated in previous year

2017

(a) Stock (at cost)

2018

2017

Rs

Rs

1,111,865

613,599

(b)	The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in direct expenses amounted to Rs 3,607,441.51
(2017: Rs 2,418,186.21).
73

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December 2018

For the year ended 31st December 2018

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

11. BORROWINGS

Trade receivables
Less: provision for impairment
Trade receivables - net
Prepayment
Receivable from related parties
Other receivables

2018

2017

Rs

Rs

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible
Unused amount reversed
At December 31, 2018
74

4,370,429

12,831,748

26,469,387

15,671,657

32,758,566

37,729,322

1,879,553

1,992,610

42,420

-

3,797,183

2,064,760

31,053,031

41,786,692

Current

Total borrowings

Current
Rs

More than
30 days
past due
Rs

More than
60 days
past due
Rs

More than
120 days
past due
Rs

5%

15%

30%

50%

9,118,872

4,056,065

Total
Rs

(298,506)

(895,517)

6,520,525

22,761,355

42,456,817

(1,893,783)

(14,035,135)

(17,122,941)

Trade receivables

Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year

22,098,958

3,449,269

25,333,875

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as at December 31st, 2018 reconcile to the opening loss allowances
as follows:

Loss allowance as at January 1, 2018(IFRS 9)

9,382,479

Finance lease liabilities

Finance lease liabilities

Gross carrying amount

Amounts restated through opening retained earnings

Bank overdraft

(5,031,627)

On that basis, the loss allowance as at December 31st, 2018 (on adoption of IFRS 9) was determined as follows for
trade receivables:

At December 31 (IAS 39)

6,289,179

(17,122,943)

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 12 months before
December 31st, 2018 and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced with this period. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Club has identified the GDP and the unemployment rate
of the countries in which it sells its goods and services to be the most relavant factors, and accordingly adjusts
the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors.

- trade receivable

2,839,909

Non-current

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit resk
characteristics and the days past due.

Loss allowance

Rs

42,760,949

The Club applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.

Expected loss rate

2017

Rs
42,456,818

(i) Impairment of Trade receivables

At December 31, 2018

2018

2018

2017

Rs

Rs

5,031,627

5,808,635

-

-

5,031,627

5,808,635

12,787,835

(b) Finance lease liabilities- minimum lease payments:
2018

2017

Rs

Rs

Not later than 1 year

3,786,893

5,022,621

Later than one year and not later than five years

3,356,667

6,625,014

7,143,560

11,647,635

Future finance charges on finance leases
Present value of finance lease liabilities

(854,382)
6,289,178

(988,027)
10,659,608

12. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
The Club contributes to a defined benefit pension. The plan is a final salary plan, which provides benefits to
members in the form of a guaranteed level of pension payable for life. The level of benefits provided depends on
members’ length of service and their salary in the final years leading up to retirement.
The assets of the plan are invested in the Deposit Administration Policy which is a pooled insurance product for
Group Pension Schemes, underwritten by Swan Life. It is a long term Investment Policy which aims to provide a
smooth progression of returns from one year to the next without regular fluctuations associated with asset-linked
investments such as Equity Funds. Moreover, the Deposit Administration policy offers a minimum guaranteed
return of 4% p.a.
The most recent actuarial valuation of the plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligations
were carried out at December 31st, 2018 by Swan Life Ltd. The present value of the defined benefit obligations,
and the related current service cost and past service cost, were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

3,780,680

(686,770)

(3,641,077)

(9,750)

(916,611)

17,122,942

(a)	Bank overdraft is secured by floating charges on the assets of the Club (movable and immovable properties),
including property, plant and equipment (note 5(a)). The rate of interest is 7% per annum. Lease liabilities are
effectively secured as the rights to the leased asset revert to the lessor in the event of default.

5,031,627
75

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December 2018

For the year ended 31st December 2018

12. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONT’D)

12. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONT’D)
2018

2017

Rs

Rs

68,778,606

29,526,072

8,648,270

2,206,000

77,426,876

31,732,072

5,053,000

3,124,072

Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position:
Defined pension benefits (note 12(a)(i))
Other post retirement benefits (note 12(b)(i))
Amounts charged to profit or loss:
- Defined pension benefits (note (a)(v))
Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in other comprehensive income:
- Defined pension benefits (note (a)(vi))

13,904,000

- Other post retirement benefits (note (b)(i))

(6,256,773)

5,018,000
-

(a) Defined pension benefits (cont’d)
(iv) The movement in the fair value of plan assets of the year is as follows:
2018
At January 1,
Interest income

2017

Rs

Rs

81,743,000

80,078,000

4,380,000

5,239,000

Scheme expenses

(147,000)

-

Cost of insuring risk benefits

(485,000)

-

Remeasurements:
- Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest
income

1,163,000

Contributions by the employer

4,821,000

3,909,000

(a) Defined pension benefits

Benefits paid

(8,459,000)

(5,782,000)

At December 31,

83,016,000

81,743,000

(i) The reconciliation of the opening balances to the closing balances for the net defined benefit liability (asset) is as
follows:

(v) The amounts recognised in profit or loss are as follows:

2017

2018

2017

Rs

Rs

Rs

-

1,082,072

7,647,227

2018
Rs

5,018,000

Current service cost

At January 1,
- as previously reported
- remeasurement of defined pension benefit plan (note 12 (a) (ii))
- as restated
Charged to profit or loss

29,526,072

35,329,000
-

485,000

-

82,450,606

35,329,000

Interest expense

4,421,000

2,042,000

5,053,000

3,124,072

Total included in employee benefit expense

5,053,000

3,124,072

2018

2017

Rs

Rs

52,924,534

(13,904,000)

(5,018,000)

(4,821,000)

(3,909,000)

Balance at December 31,

68,778,606

It is impracticable to determine the period-specific effects of the adjustment on comparative information. The
Club has therefore in compliance with IAS 8, accordingly restated the opening balances of RBO and accumulated
funds for the current year.

2018

2017

Rs

Rs

At January 1,

At January 1, restated
Current service cost
Interest expense
Actuarial gain
Benefits paid
At December 31,
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Remeasurement on the net defined benefit liability:
Gains/(Losses)on pension scheme assets

1,163,000
-

Experience gains on the liabilities
Actuarial gain/(losses) arising from changes in financial assumptions

(1,701,000)
9,375,000

12,741,000

(2,656,000)

13,904,000

5,018,000

(vii) The principal actuarial assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were:

(iii) The movement in the defined benefit obligations over the year is as follows:

- remeasurement of defined benefit

(vi) The amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are as follows:

29,526,072

(ii)	In 2017, retirement benefit obligations was calculated by Aon Hewitt on the basis of a reduced pension liability
obligation. The Financial Services Commission did not agree to the change in the basis of calculation of the
retirement benefit obligations. To this effect, at reporting date December 21st, 2018, RBO has been recalculated
on a full defined benefit obligation basis.

- as previously reported

147,000

Past service cost

Contributions paid

Actuarial gain recognised in other comprehensive income

Scheme expenses

(1,701,000)

111,268,466

115,406,394

52,924,534

-

164,193,000

115,406,394

-

1,082,072

8,801,000

7,281,000

(12,741,000)

(6,719,000)

(8,459,000)
151,794,000

2018

2017

Rs

Rs

Discount rate

6.20%

5.50%

Future salary growth rate

1.00%

3.00%

Future pension growth rate

0.00%

0.00%

(5,782,000)
111,268,466
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12. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONT’D)

12. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONT’D)

(a) Defined pension benefits (cont’d)

(b) Other post retirement benefits (cont’d)

(viii) Sensitivity analysis on defined benefit obligations at end of the reporting date:

(ii) The amounts recognised in profit or loss are as follows:
Increase

Decrease

2018

Rs

Rs

Rs

Rs

64,167

178,000

December 31, 2018
Discount rate (1% movement)

Current service cost
21,677,000

18,917,000

December 31, 2017
Discount rate (1% movement)

3,266,000

2,656,000

Interest expense

121,330

106,000

Total included in employee benefit expense

185,497

284,000

2018

2017

Rs

Rs

(iii) The amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are as follows:

An increase/decrease of 1% in other principal actuarial assumptions would not have a material impact on defined
benefit obligations at the end of the reporting period.
The sensitivity above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on net defined
benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting
period.
The sensitivity analysis may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is
unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may
be correlated.
There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.
(ix)	The defined benefit pension plan exposes the Club to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, currency risk, interest
rate risk and market (investment) risk.
(x)	The funding requirements are based on the pension fund’s actuarial measurement framework set out in the
funding policies of the plan.
(xi) The Club expects to pay Rs 116m in contributions to its pension scheme for the year ending December 31 , 2019.

Remeasurement on the net defined benefit liability:
Losses on the liabilities
Actuarial gain arising from changes in financial assumptions

(i) Movement in liability recognised in Balance Sheet
2018

2017

Rs

Rs

2,206,000

1,922,000

185,497

284,000

Actuarial losses recognised in Other Comprehensive income

6,256,773

-

At December 31,

8,648,270

2,206,000
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-

6,256,773

-

2018

2017

Rs

Rs

Discount rate

6.20%

5.50%

Future salary growth rate

1.00%

3.00%

Future pension growth rate

0.00%

0.00%

Increase

Decrease

Rs

Rs

917,955

796,554

3,725,000

1,445,000

(v) Sensitivity analysis on defined benefit obligations at end of the reporting date:

December 31, 2018
Discount rate (1% movement)

Discount rate (1% movement)

The liability relates to employees who are entitled to Retirement Gratuities payable under the Employment
Rights Act (ERA). The latter provides for a lump sum at retirement based on final salary and years of service. For
employees who are members of the Defined Contribution plan or Defined Benefit plan, half of any lumpsum and
5 years of pension (relating to Employer’s share of contributions only) payable from the pension fund have been
offset from the Retirement Gratuities.

Total expense charged in profit or loss

-

December 31, 2017

(b) Other post retirement benefits

At January 1,

8,097,255
(1,840,482)

(iv) The principal actuarial assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were:

st

(xii) The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 14 years at the end of the reporting period
(2017: 13 years).

2017

An increase/decrease of 1% in other principal actuarial assumptions would not have a material impact on defined
benefit obligations at the end of the reporting period.
The sensitivity above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on net defined
benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting
period.
The sensitivity analysis may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is
unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may
be correlated.
There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.
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12. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONT’D)

16. DIRECT EXPENSES

(b) Other post retirement benefits (cont’d)

2018

(vi)	The defined benefit pension plan exposes the Club to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, currency risk, interest
rate risk and market (investment) risk.
(vii)	The funding requirements are based on the pension fund’s actuarial measurement framework set out in the
funding policies of the plan.
13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2017

Rs

Rs

Race expenses-Direct

50,056,810

45,759,294

Race expenses-Indirect

71,841,200

66,368,153

Price and Sponsorship to stables

98,000,598

87,556,290

Expenses related to stables

54,602,071

48,483,370

274,500,679

248,167,107

17. OTHER INCOME
2018

2017

Rs

Rs

2018

2017

Trade payables

7,768,078

6,545,507

Rs

Rs

Accruals

2,530,668

1,346,867

364,700

-

13,070,795

19,374,814

23,369,541

27,267,188

2018

2017

Other payables

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment

18. OTHER EXPENSES

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximate their fair values and are denominated in Mauritius
rupee.
14. TAXATION
2018

2017

Rs

Rs

Statement of financial position
At January 1,
Amount recovered

(226,164)

(169,013)

209,015

169,013

(17,149)
Current tax on the adjusted profit for the year at 15% (2017: 15%)
Underprovision in previous year
Tax deducted at source
At December 31,

-

17,149

-

(226,164)

Underprovision in previous year
Deferred tax (note 8)

Operating costs and Building maintenance

24,072,077

19,575,339

Motor vehicles and transport charges

7,789,903

6,788,139

Insurance

2,239,894

2,480,081

Contribution to pension plan(including share of defined contributions)

1,117,250

10,927,488

Bad-debts/Provision for bad debts

13,341,848

2,882,816

90,706,335

82,697,196

2018

2017

Rs

Rs

19. NET FINANCE COSTS

Interest expense:
1,722,032

-

17,149

-

2,186,689

1,044,196

3,925,870

1,044,196

2018

- Interest on bank overdraft

897,200

529,500

- Interest on finance lease

652,195

400,379

151,017

(392,043)

- Net foreign exchange financing loss /(gain)
Interest income

1,700,412

537,836

-

(26,720)

1,700,412

511,116

2017

Rs

Rs

270,439,694

229,761,953

Revenue from the sale of goods

32,358,703

32,563,726

Revenue from rendering of services

33,112,771

32,161,185

Subscriptions

6,375,942

6,497,561

Other revenue

40,788,564

40,239,696

383,075,675

341,224,121

80

40,043,333

(226,164)

15. REVENUE

Revenue from contracts with customers

42,145,363

(226,164)

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Current tax on the adjusted profit for the year at 15% (2017: 15%)

Rs

Salaries, Wages & Pensions

-

1,722,032

1,495,868

Rs
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20. NOTES TO STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
2018
Rs

2017
Rs

8,590,817

3,340,623

9,146,732
(364,700)
1,549,394
(1,204,600)
417,497
18,135,140

7,818,020
929,880
(26,720)
(1,309,942)
(278,868)
10,472,993

(498,266)
10,733,661
(3,916,492)
24,454,043

100,280
(13,588,554)
4,877,388
1,862,107

Notes

(a) Cash generated from operations
Surplus for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment
Interest expense
Interest income
Share of profit from associates
Increase/(decrease) in provision for retirement benefit obligations
Changes in working capital:
- inventories
- trade and other receivables
- trade and other payables
Cash generated from operations

5(a)
19
7

2018
Rs

2017
Rs

(b) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash in hand and at bank
Bank overdraft (note 11)

4,203,637
(9,382,479)
(5,178,842)

6,227,748
(22,098,958)
(15,871,210)

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identitifed
impairment loss was immaterial.
21. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at December 31st, 2018, there is bank guarantee of Rs 340,000 in respect of customs.
22. COMMITMENTS
(a) Operating lease commitments- where the Club is the lessee.
The Club leases various motor vehicles under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases have
varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

2018
Rs
516,564
1,721,880
2,238,444

2017
Rs
-

23. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
There are no changes to the amounts reported in the financial statements year ended December 31st, 2018 under IFRS
15 to the amounts that would have been reported had the Club continued to report in accordance with IAS 18, Revenue.
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